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COLUMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA 

Office of the County Attorney Joel F. Foreman 

County Attorney 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Joint County / Town of Fort White Meeting Agenda, November 1, 2023 

From: Joel F. Foreman 

Re: For Discussion and Possible Action: Clarification of Board action 

Donation of equipment to the Town of Fort White for Utility Maintenance 

Date: October 26, 2023 

Attached is a letter from Fort White Town Attorney Lindsey Lander that was been referred to 

me for review and comment. The first issue raised by Mr. Lander is not the subject of this 

memo. The second issue raised relates back to a possible significant misunderstanding between 

what the Board of County Commissioners previously voted to do and what the Town of Fort 

White expects from the Board’s action.  

On May 19, 2022, the Board considered Agenda Item No. 12. The Agenda Item Request Form, 

as completed by the County Manager and attached to Item No. 12 read:  

“At the May 4, 2022 meeting, the Fort White Columbia County Utility Advisory 

Committee recommended that the Town of Fort White donate $300,000 in ARPA funds 

for the operations of the Water system and Ellisville/Fort White connection project. In 

addition, the Committee recommended the County purchase equipment for the 

maintenance of utility lines. This action requires approval by both Boards.” 

There is no mention of how much money the County would spend to “purchase equipment for 

the maintenance of utility lines” or any mention of what type of equipment would be 

purchased.  

I have reviewed video of the discussion and action on Agenda Item No. 12 from May 19, 2022. 

The presentation included two parts.  

First, the County Manager explained that the utility committee had proposed that the Town of 

Fort White would commit $300,000 of its ARPA funds “toward the water projects in Fort 

White, both the connections between Ellisville and Fort White, and just the operations of the 

water system itself”. There was no discussion about this proposal. 

Next, the County Manager advised that the committee had discussed the possibility that the 

County would “fund equipment, a dump truck, something big, so that we have some equipment 

down there to maintain the Town’s utility system… the Town could possibly use for other 

things as well”.  



Discussion immediately followed. Commissioner Ford, who was then on the committee, said 

this item would include the purchase of a “small single-axle dump truck” that would “actually 

be for the utility but the Town of Fort White would have access to it”. Commissioner 

Hollingsworth emphasized that the Town would own the truck, but you clarified to the Board 

that in the short run the Town would own the truck but would be expected to later donate the 

truck to any utility authority the two governments subsequently created. 

 

After I explained to the Board the status of that then-proposed new utility authority, Mr. Kirby 

offered that he believed the truck should be conveyed to the Town because in his experience 

the logistics of the County owning equipment that is held and used by another agency is 

untenable. Further discussion centered on how this split in ownership could complicate things 

for both agencies. The Board seemed satisfied that giving the dump truck to the Town, subject 

to later conveyance to the utility was the best solution.  

 

In short, substantially all the discussion of Item 12 concerned the County acquiring the single-

axle dump truck and conveying it to the Town, subject to later donation from the Town to the 

utility authority when created.  

 

Commissioner Williams’ motion after this discussion was “I approve the recommendation 

with the Town of Fort White for the water system authorization of the purchase of equipment 

to be owned by the Town of Fort White until the authorization of the combined utility between 

the City of Fort White – the Town of Fort White and Columbia County”. It was seconded by 

Commissioner Ford. The motion passed unanimously.  

 

I found no mention of the sum of $300,000 to be appropriated to or for the Town for the 

purpose of purchasing the dump truck. There is no mention of cost or outlays at all.  

 

After that motion was made and approved, you asked for a separate motion to accept the 

Town’s $300,000 contribution to the water utility connection project and operations. That 

motion was made and passed with no discussion.  

 

In short, it appears the Board voted, in separate motions to: 

 

1. Donate one single-axle dump truck to Fort White, subject to future donation to a 

combined utility authority to be established at a later date.  

 

2. Accept $300,000 in ARPA funds from the Town for operations of the water utility.  

 

Unless there was other Board action concerning this matter I have not been made aware of, I 

believe these are the things the Board has bound itself to do.  

 

I am asking the Board to clarify how and whether it authorized or intended to authorize any 

expenditure other than the cost of a single-axle dump truck to be donated to the Town subject 

to an agreement to later donate the dump truck to a combined utility authority. 






